Public Document Pack
Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa,
Aberaeron, Ceredigion SA46 0PA
ceredigion.gov.uk

3 August 2022
Due to COVID-19 and the health and safety of Councillors and staff, members
of the public and the press cannot attend the meeting in person. Please email
democracy@ceredigion.gov.uk to request a link to view the meeting.
Dear Sir / Madam
I write to inform you that a Meeting of the Development Management Committee will
be held at the Council Camber, Penmorfa, Aberaeron and remotely via videoconferencing on Wednesday, 10 August 2022 at 10.00 am for the transaction of the
following business:
1.

Apologies

2.

Personal Matters

3.

Disclosures of personal interest/prejudicial interest

4.

To consider the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on the
13 July 2022 (Pages 3 - 6)

5.

To consider planning applications deferred at previous Meetings of
the Committee (Pages 7 - 14)

6.

Development, Advertisement, Local Authority and Statutory
Applications (Pages 15 - 26)

7.

Planning applications dealt with by way of delegated authority (Pages
27 - 32)

8.

Appeal Decisions (Pages 33 - 52)

9.

Appeals Received (Pages 53 - 54)

10.

Any other matter which the Chairman decides is for the urgent
attention of the Committee

A Translation Services will be provided at this meeting and those present are
welcome to speak in Welsh or English at the meeting.

1

Yours faithfully

Miss Lowri Edwards
Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services
To:

Chairman and Members of Development Management Committee
The remaining Members of the Council for information only

Agenda Item 4

Minutes of a Meeting of the DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE held hybrid on
Wednesday, 13 July 2022

Present: Councillor Rhodri Davies (Chair), Councillor Gethin Davies, Ifan Davies, Marc Davies
Meirion Davies, Rhodri Evans, Geraint Wyn Hughes, Chris James, Maldwyn Lewis, Gareth
Lloyd, Carl Worrall and Hugh R M Hughes

Also in attendance: Councillor Wyn Evans
Officers in attendance: Mr Russell Hughes-Pickering, Corporate Lead Officer- Economy &
Regeneration, , Mr Jonathan Eirug – Development Management Team Leader North, Mrs
Sian Holder Development Management Team Leader South, Mr Alan Davies – Corporate
Manager – Planning Services, Ms Nia Jones – Corporate Manager – Democratic Services ,
Mrs Catrin Newbold – Service Manager, Ms Ein Prysor –Corporate Lead Officer -Legal and
Governance and Mrs Dana Jones, Democratic Services and Standards Officer
(10:00am – 11:40am)
1

Personal
Congratulations were extended to Councillor Cerys Jones on the birth of her son.

2

Apologies
Councillor Cerys Jones, Sian Maehrlein and Mark Strong apologised for their inability to
attend the meeting.

3

Disclosure of Personal and/or Prejudicial Interest
None.

4

Minutes of a Meeting of the Committee held on the 08 June 2022
It was RESOLVED to confirm as a true record the Minutes of the Meeting of the 08
June 2022.
Matters arising
None.

5

Planning applications deferred at previous Meetings of the Committee
Consideration was given to the Report of the Corporate Lead Officer – Economy and
Regeneration on the following planning applications which had been considered at a
previous meeting and which required further consideration by the Committee:A201119. Retention of Biomass Log Dryer Kiln, and two Chimneys and continued use
of Boiler No. 1 only (within centre of building) following trial run relating to Temporary
Planning Permission A190302, Cae Celyn, Llanfair Road, Lampeter
To REFUSE the application on the grounds that the retention of the proposal was likely to
result in harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring residents, contrary to the
provisions of Future Wales, Planning Policy Wales and to policies DM06, LU25 & DM22 of
the adopted Ceredigion Local Development Plan 2007-2022
. _______________________________________________________________________

6

Development, Advertisement, Local Authority and Statutory
Applications
Consideration was given to the Report of the Corporate Lead Officer
Economy and Regeneration upon development, advertisement; local

Page 3

authority and statutory planning Applications:-

A200674 Full Planning for the Erection of a Poultry Unit on Farm to
accommodate 32,000 Free Range Chickens( Egg Production) together with
associated Feed Bins, internal Farm Access and Associated Works,
Pwllpridd, Lledrod, Aberystwyth
To APPROVE the application subject to conditions and subject to the
outcome of the Habitat Regulations Assessment
____________________________________________________________________
Mr Aled Jones (Applicant) and Mr Llyr Evans, (Agent) addressed the
Committee in accordance with the temporary addendum to the Operational
procedure for Members of the Public addressing the Development Control
Committee in response to Covid-19

A210363 Erection of agricultural building for housing of young stock (straw
bed loose housing), Alltgoch, Silian
To REFER the application to a Site Inspection Panel in accordance with
Paragraph 1, 2 and 3 of the Council’s adopted criteria.

_____________________________________________________________
A210523 Infill Residential Development of 7 Dwellings including Affordables (to be
negotiated),Land At Wenfryn Ffosyffin, Aberaeron
To DEFER determination of the application due to new information being circulated by the
agent prior to the meeting which required to be considered by highways and planning
officers accordingly, the application be represented at a future meeting if an agreement
could not be reached by all parties.
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

7

Planning Applications dealt with by Corporate Lead Officer – Economy and
Regeneration:It was RESOLVED to note the schedule of planning applications dealt with the
Report of the Corporate Lead Officer – Economy and Regeneration.

8

Planning Appeals
It was AGREED to note the planning appeals received.

Confirmed at the meeting of the Committee held on the 10 August 2022

Page 4

Chairman:-____________________
Date:_______________

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

1. Gohiriwyd/Deferred
#

1

Dyddiad y
Cyfeirnod y Cais
derbyniwyd / Ymgeisydd
/ Application
Received
/ Applicant
Reference
Date

A210363

12-04-2021

Messrs A
Jones &
Sons

Bwriad / Proposal

Erection of agricultural
building for housing of
young stock (straw bed
loose housing).

Page 7

Lleoliad / Location

Alltgoch, Silian, SA48
8LU

Argymhelliad /
Recommendation

Refuse

2 / 43

1.1. A210363

Page 8

3 / 43

Rhif y Cais / Application
Reference

A210363

Derbyniwyd / Received

12-04-2021

Y Bwriad / Proposal

Erection of agricultural building for housing of young stock (straw bed loose
housing).

Lleoliad Safle / Site Location

Alltgoch, Silian, SA48 8LU

Math o Gais / Application Type

Full Planning

Ymgeisydd / Applicant

Messrs A Jones & Sons, Llwyn, Lampeter, Ceredigion, SA48 8JY

Asiant / Agent

Llyr Evans (Llyr Evans Planning Ltd), Llantood Farm, Cardigan, SA43 3NU

THE SITE AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
The application site refers to an agricultural field located to the west of the farm complex at Alltgoch, and to the north east of
grade II listed building at Olwen farm, on the east side of the A485 Lampeter to Silian road. The field lies within close
proximity to the woodlands known as 'Coed Gwarallt' and 'Olwen Wood'. The application site lies to the south of an existing
cattle handling facility and yard. A slurry lagoon lies to the west of the application site which was constructed under
permitted development rights. The site is accessed from the A485 through Olwen Farm along the disused railway line and
from the A486 through Dyffryn to the west of the site via a right of way agreement.
The land is run in association with Olwen to the south and Llwyn which is located approximately 3 miles to the east and is a
mixed dairy and sheep farm, with approximately 690 acres, of which 400 acres are owned by the applicants and the
remainder is rented. The enterprise milks approximately 420 cows with followers.
A previous application for the same development was submitted to the LPA in October 2020 but was subsequently
withdrawn in December 2020 following concerns by the LPA (A200850).
DETAILS OF DEVELOPMENT
The application is a resubmission of the previously withdrawn application for the erection of an agricultural building. The
proposed building measures approximately 13.7 metres wide with a 2 metre overhang by 60.96 metres long, with an eaves
height to the rear (south) of approximately 4.88 metres and a slightly lower eaves height to the north due to the overhang,
and a ridge height of just under 7 metres. The proposed building is steel framed construction, with concrete panels on the
lower walls to a height of approximately 1 metre with Yorkshire boarding to the upper walls and a grey fibre cement profiled
sheet roof. Clear skylights would also be incorporated into the roof in each bay. The north facing elevation of the building will
be open. There will be a slight raising of the ground level on one side in order to create a level ground for the building.
The application states that the building would provide a flexible, multi-purpose housing for young stock to be reared on farm.
The housing would be in the form of straw loose housing with a feeding barrier allowing feeding under the overhang along
the northern elevation. Manure would be in the form of Farm Yard Manure, temporarily stored on the land in accordance with
the relevant regulations until used as fertiliser on the land.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND GUIDANCE
Relevant national planning policies:
Future Wales: The National Plan 2040
Planning Policy Wales (edition 11, February 2021)
TAN5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
TAN6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010)
TAN12 Design (2016)
Relevant local planning policies:
These Local Development Plan policies are applicable in the determination of this application:
S04 Development in Linked Settlements and Other Locations
LU30 Safeguarding
DM06 High Quality Design and Placemaking
DM13 Sustainable Drainage Systems
DM14 Nature Conservation and Ecological Connectivity
DM15 Local Biodiversity Conservation

Page 9

10 / 43

DM17 General Landscape
DM18 Special Landscape Areas (SLAs)
DM22 General Environmental Protection and Enhancement
Relevant adopted Supplementary Planning Guidances (SPG):
Special Landscape Areas SPG
Built Environment and Design SPG 2015
Nature Conservation SPG 2015
OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to exercise its various functions
with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to
prevent, crime and disorder in its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result of the proposed decision.
EQUALITY ACT 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age; disability; gender reassignment;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation; marriage and civil partnership. Having due regard
to advancing equality involves:
• removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected characteristics;
• taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ from the need of other people; and
• encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other activities where their participation is
disproportionately low.
The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It is considered that the proposed
development does not have any significant implications for, or effect on, persons who share a protected characteristic, over
and above any other person.
WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015
The Well-Being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council to take reasonable steps in exercising
its functions to meet the seven well-being goals within the Act. This report has been prepared in consideration of the
Council’s duty and the 'sustainable development principle', as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation, the
Council has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to
meet their own needs.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Cyngor Tref Llambed Town Council - No response received.
Highways - No objection
Land Drainage - Standard Advice. SuDS approval required.
Ecology - No objection, recommended conditions.
Natural Resources Wales - NRW initially raised significantly concerns with the application, however following the
submission of additional information (Pollution Prevention Plan, Nutrient and Manure Management Plan and drainage
details), they have subsequently advised that they have no objection, subject to conditions.
An objection has been received from the nearby Dyffryn Farm for the following reasons in summary:
Need for the building in this location: Not justified and not essential. Set away from the main farm at Llwyn and the
buildings at Alltgoch. Other locations available,closer to existing buildings and settlement. Contrary to planning
guidance which states that any new buildings should form part of a group rather than stand in isolation.
Access and Traffic Impact. Results in increased traffic through Dyffryn Farm. Will have an adverse impact on the
existing lane surface. The applicant has right of access only through Dyffryn Farm. Increased traffic on the local
highway network.
Adverse impact on the landscape: Building within open countryside, away from the existing farm complex and the
buildings at Alltogch. Within a designated as a Special Landscape Area, and impact on the historic environment.
Concerns that it would set precedent for similar development and also future development in this location.

Page 10

11 / 43

Impact on Amenity: Increased traffic through Dyffryn Farm will have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the
occupiers of Dyffryn Farm.
Environmental Impact: Risk of pollution from heavily agricultural vehicles passing through Dyffryn Farm.
Biodiversity and ecological risks
Impact of increase traffic on the disused railway line
CONCLUSION
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that: “If regard is to be had to the development
plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be in accordance with
the plan unless material consideration indicate otherwise”.
Principle of Development
The application site lies approximately 1km to the north of the settlement of Lampeter and falls within 'other locations' as
identified within the LDP. The site is surrounded by agricultural fields, with Gwarallt Woodland to the north-east and Olwen
Woodland to the south. There are isolated farmsteads within proximity, including Alltgoch to the north-east, Dyffryn to the
north-west and Olwen to the south-west.
Both national and local planning policies adopt a stringent policy approach to development within the open countryside in
order to achieve development that is sustainable and to protect the landscape of the open countryside. Paragraph 3.38 of
Planning Policy Wales (edition 11) states that in line with sustainable development and the national planning principles and
in contributing towards placemaking outcomes, the countryside must be conserved and, where possible, enhanced for the
sake of its ecological, geological, physiographic, historical, archaeological, cultural and agricultural value and for its
landscape and natural resources. It goes on to state that the need to conserve these attributes should be balanced against
the economic, social and recreational needs of local communities and visitors. Paragraph 3.60 states that development in
the countryside should be located within and adjoining those settlements where it can be best accommodated and that new
building in the open countryside away from existing settlements must be strictly controlled, and that all new development
should be of a scale and design that respects the character of the surrounding area.
Policy S04 states that all development within 'other locations' will need to accord with TAN 6. TAN 6 refers to agricultural
related development, and therefore the principle of an agricultural building within 'other locations' accords with TAN 6.
However, and in view the policy requirement to conserve the countryside, it is considered necessary to consider whether
there is reasonable justification for the need for the building for the purpose of agriculture and whether this represents the
most suitable location.
The application is accompanied by a Planning Statement which states that the building would allow housing for
approximately 100 heifer replacements for the dairy herd at Llwyn and a building in the proposed location would allow land
unsuitable for silaging on the holding to be grazed, whilst also be convenient for the partner to tend to the animals in
emergencies and for their daily feeding and welfare. The partner referred to lives at Olwen, which is approximately 800
metres away. It states that currently heifers are reared by a combination of out-wintering and buildings that aren't built for
purpose and lack ventilation. The building would limit out-wintering associated with the holding, limiting poaching, soil
compaction, ground damage and soil run-off. A built for purpose, well ventilated building would increase the heifer calves
performance and therefore have a positive impact on lifetime production and efficiency. It states that the dairy herd at Llwyn
is currently out-performing the average figures on CO2 emissions equivalent as seen by their latest Carbon footprint results
in comparison to 2300 UK Arla dairy farmers.
The Planning Statement includes a site selection assessment, which considers this location to the most appropriate for the
following reasons, in summary:
Alltgoch:
The topography immediately adjoining the dwelling and outbuildings would make the siting of the building difficult
and costly.
Olwen:
Significant portion of the land is within the C2 floodzone associated with the Afon Dulas
Majority of land is within 250 m of the Afon Dulas, and therefore raises issues with regards to potential impact on
the watercourse
Olwen farmhouse is a grade II listed building
Castell Olwen, a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM), is located a short distance to the south of Olwen
farmhouse, and development in proximity of the SAM would likely adversely affect its setting and also raise
archaeological implications
The traditional outbuildings provides an opportunity for future conversion and farm diversification
Require the need to include bale or fodder storage and handling facilities which are existing at the proposed site
The proposed site is more central to the land holding

Page 11

12 / 43

Llwyn, Llanfair Road
Significant element of the farm enterprise is located at this site, however the complex is located closer to the
Afon Teifi and does not provide the managerial accommodation options that Alltgoch offers.
The information states that currently the heifers are reared by a combination of out-wintering and buildings that aren't built
for purpose and lack ventilation, however no information has been provided to explain why the existing buildings cannot be
upgraded / replaced, or whether there are any other suitable existing buildings that could provide accommodation for the
heifers. Furthermore, the reason given as to why the building cannot be provided at the main farm complex at Llwyn is not
considered to be a sufficient reason. The main farm complex is provided at Llwyn which includes significant agricultural
buildings. Whilst it is acknowledged that Llwyn is close to the Afon Teifi, it has not been sufficiently proven that a
replacement building, or a new building at Llwyn for this purpose would have a significant adverse impact on the river Teifi
SAC resulting in any such application being refused. It is also important to note that the information submitted as part of the
application states that the proposed development will not lead to an increase in stocking levels at the farm, but will provide
improved facilities for current stock number.
In terms of Alltoch farmhouse, it is accepted that the topography would be challenging, and also the buildings at Alltgoch are
redundant/vacant and there is no active farming taking place. In terms of Olwen farmhouse, the constraints in this location
are noted and represent a challenge, but it is also noted Olwen farmhouse is not an active farm, but instead is being
occupied for residential purposes by one of the farm partners. Therefore it is considered that these locations do not provide
a suitable alternative as it is considered that there is no justification / need for the building to be located close to Olwen farm
nor Alltgoch farm. The justification put forward in terms of management of the livestock is not considered to be sufficient,
because there is an existing farmhouse located at Llwyn which would provide the necessary management for the animals.
The fact that there is an existing handling facility near the application site does also not provide a sufficient reason to allow
for a new building, particularly one of a significant scale.
In view of the above, it is considered that it has not been sufficiently demonstrated that there is a need for the building,
particularly of such a significant scale, to be located in this particular location - away from the main farmstead of Llwyn. The
LPA considers that the building should be located on/adjacent to the main farmstead at Llwyn, and not be segregated away
from the farm and in an isolated location, where there are group of farm buildings.
Impact on the Landscape
The application site lies within the 'open countryside', pre-dominantly surrounded by open fields with isolated farmsteads
and woodlands. The site falls within the Teifi Valley Special Landscape Area (SLA). LDP Policy DM06 seeks to ensure that
development is of a high quality and contributes positively to the context of its surroundings. Policy DM17 seeks to protect
the general landscape from significant harm caused by new development, and does not permit development that causes
significant visual intrusion and is insensitively and unsympathetically sited within its location. Policy DM18 seeks to protect
the special qualities of the SLA.
Planning Policy Wales states that local authorities should protect and enhance the special characteristics of the landscape,
whilst paying due regard to the social, economic and environmental and cultural benefits they provide and to their role in
creating valued places. Furthermore it states that where adverse effects on the landscape character cannot be avoided, it
will be necessary to refuse planning permission. TAN 6 states that the planning system must protect and enhance the
natural and historic environment and safeguard the countryside and open spaces. It states that the siting of a new
agricultural building can have a considerable impact on the surrounding landscape, and that new buildings should normally
form part of a group rather than stand in isolation.
The proposed development would introduce an agricultural building, of a significant large scale (13.7 metres wide with a 2
metre overhang by 60.96 metres long (approx. 835 square metres) and a ridge height of just under 7 metres), within an
isolated location away from the main farm complex of the enterprise. The building would also be prominent within the
landscape. The proposed development is therefore considered to have a significant adverse impact on the surrounding
landscape and the Special Landscape Area, and is contrary to LDP policies DM06, DM17 and DM18.
The proposed building is considered to be at a sufficient distance away from the historical assets at Olwen Farm and Olwen
Castell and is not therefore considered to have an adverse impact on their setting. The building is also set away from the
disused railway track.
Residential Amenity
The owner/occupier of the nearby Dyffryn Farm has objected to the proposed development, noting that increase traffic to
and from the site would have an adverse impact on their amenity. It is noted that the applicant has a right of access over
Dyffryn Farm to access Alltgoch and the surrounding fields. This means that the farm enterprise currently accesses Alltgoch
and the surrounding fields for agricultural purposes without any planning restrictions. Whilst it is acknowledged that there
would be increased traffic during the construction of the building, however this would only be for a temporary period. The

Page 12

13 / 43

use of the building once it has been constructed is not considered to result in significant increase in traffic through Dyffryn
Farm above the current situation.
The proposed building is located approximately 300 metres away from Dyffryn Farm. Whilst the application is not an
application under the prior approval procedure under Part 6, it is considered relevant to note that the exemption applied for
buildings used for the accommodation of livestock within 400 metres of the curtilage of a protected building does not apply
to a dwelling or other building on another agricultural unit which is used for the connection of agriculture. Therefore, the
impact of such development on the amenity of existing farms is not the same as applied to residential dwellings not used for
agricultural purposes.
In view of the above, it is not considered that the building would have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of the
occupies of Dyffryn Farm.
Access and Highways
The application states that access to the site is from the A485 through Olwen Farm along the disused railway line and from
the A486 through Dyffryn to the west of the site via a right of way agreement. The proposed building is not considered to
result in a significant increase in traffic over and above the existing use of the land in this location.
The local highway authority has raised no objection to the proposed development.
Land Drainage
The application states that roof water will be directed to a soakaway. The development will require SuDS approval from the
Council Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB) therefore it is considered that surface water can eb adequately dealt
with by the SAB process.
The application states that there would be no drains within the building and would be formed to contain any effluent with
upstand edges to prevent any run-off from the building. The floor would also be formed of concrete so no lining. The building
will provide straw loose housing therefore there would be no real effluent. Manure would be in the form of Farm Yard
Manure, temporarily stored on the land in accordance with the relevant regulations until used as fertiliser on the land.
Protected Sites
The application site is located within 290 metres and falls within the catchment of the River Teifi Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI) and Special Area of Conservation (SAC). NRW within their initial response raised significant concerns on the
impact of the development on the River Teifi SSSI and SAC in terms of Phosphates, Aerial Emissions and Water Quality and
as a result further information was requested. In response, a Nutrient Management Plan and Manure Management Plan,
Pollution Prevention Plan and further details on drainage, was subsequently submitted. Based on this information, NRW
within their subsequent response, did not raise concerns with the proposed development in terms of aerial emissions,as
there would be no increase in stock, and water quality, as the farm had sufficient capacity to utilise the manure and slurry
produced by the business, however further details with regards to drainage and pollution prevention were required. These
were subsequently sent to NRW, and in NRW third response, they advise that their concerns can be overcome subject to
condition requiring the development to be carried out in accommodation with the documents submitted.
The Council's Planning Ecologist has undertaken a Habitats Regulation Assessment which concludes that no significant
adverse effect is predicted on the SAC based on the information provided.
Protected Species
No ecological assessment has been undertaken for the proposed development, however the Council's Planning Ecologist
has advised that the proposed development is located on improved grassland and no priority habitats will be lost as a result.
Minerals Safeguarding
The application site lies within the mineral aggregate safeguarding area, however given the scale and nature of the
development, it is not considered to prejudice the objectives of the designation as set out within LDP Policy 30.
Power of Delegation
The application is being reported to the Development Management Committee at the request of the former local member,
Cllr Ivor Williams, for the following reasons:
Building the shed at Alltgoch farm is a perfect location and will have no visual impact on the landscape
NRW are supporting the application
Saves on carbon as reduces movement of livestock and slurry back and forth to the main farmyard at Llwyn

Page 13

14 / 43

Welfare of the animals as it's better for them to be kept on the farm all year round with silage and slurry
RECOMMENDATION:
The application is recommended for refusal as it represents unjustifiable development that is segregated from the existing
farm, and will result in significant adverse impact on the landscape, contrary to policies S04, DM06, DM17 and DM18.
REASON FOR DEFERRAL:
At the Development Management Committee meeting on the 13th July, 2022, Members resolved to refer the application to
the Site Inspection Panel (SIP), in accordance with point 4, 5 and 7 of the Operational Procedure.
The SIP met on Thursday, 28th July, 2022 and comprised of Cllr Rhodri Davies (Chair), Cllr Rhodri Evans, Cllr Geraint
Hughes, and Cllr Maldwyn Lewis. Cllr. Ifan Davies apologised for his inability to attend the meeting. The applicant was
present only to escort the SIP to the proposed site and did not accompany members during their inspection and was not
present during their deliberations.
Members met at Llwyn (the main farmstead) and thoroughly inspected existing operations at the site, and accepted that
Llwyn was the location of the main farming operation. Members then visited Olwen and Alltgoch, and the proposed location
of the shed some 800m from Olwen. At the site location Members congregated to discuss their findings, where views were
expressed. Discussion included orientation of the shed and whether it could be moved to lessen the impact on the
landscape, and whether a condition could be imposed on the colour of the roofing sheets. Members also discussed the
future potential of splitting the farming operation considering the holding at this location amounted to 250 acres. There was
discussion on the reduction of slurry generated at Llwyn, although it was accepted that the proposal was for loose housing,
and straw provided for bedding, therefore generating manure, rather than slurry. The shed would also be located adjacent to
the existing cattle handling unit, and therefore was an appropriate location for the building.
It was accepted that the topography around Alltgoch was an unsuitable location to construct the shed, and potentially a shed
adjacent to Alltgoch being positioned at a higher altitude would have a greater effect on the landscape. Olwen is a listed
building, and it was agreed that it would not be appropriate to construct the shed in close proximity to the property.
In conclusion, Members formed a consensus that the location of the shed was suitable to facilitate continued farming
operations, and did not consider the location to adversely affect the landscape.

Page 14

15 / 43

Agenda Item 6

2. Prif Eitemau/Main Items
#

1

2

Dyddiad y
Cyfeirnod y Cais
derbyniwyd / Ymgeisydd
/ Application
Received
/ Applicant
Reference
Date

A210982

A210988

Bwriad / Proposal

Lleoliad / Location

05-10-2021

Proposed 3 no. glamping
pods, alterations to
Pendre, Llanfihangel-yMr and Mrs
existing access and
creuddyn, Aberystwyth,
T&B Evans
installation of package
SY23 4LB
treatment plant

06-10-2021

Mr Rob
Berner
(Ceredigion
Sustainable
Developme
nt)

Argymhelliad /
Recommendation

Refuse

Residential development
of 22 dwellings together Land at Ger y Cwm,
Approve Subject to
with associated access Penrhyncoch,
Conditions
roads, landscaping and Aberystwyth, SY23 3EW
amenity space.

Page 15

16 / 43

2.1. A210982

Page 16

17 / 43

Rhif y Cais / Application
Reference

A210982

Derbyniwyd / Received

05-10-2021

Y Bwriad / Proposal

Proposed 3 no. glamping pods, alterations to existing access and installation of package
treatment plant

Lleoliad Safle / Site Location Pendre, Llanfihangel-y-creuddyn, Aberystwyth, SY23 4LB
Math o Gais / Application
Type

Full Planning

Ymgeisydd / Applicant

Mr and Mrs T&B Evans, Pendre, Llanfihangel-y-creuddyn, Aberystwyth, Ceredigion, SY23
4LB

Asiant / Agent

Mr Gareth Flynn (Morgan & Flynn Architectural Services), Tan Y Dderwen Llanrhystud,
Aberystwyth, SY23 5ED

THE SITE AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
The site comprises part of a field which is currently used for agricultural purposes in a prominent location overlooking the
village of Llanfihangel y Creuddyn which lies some 600m to the west. The site is located in the corner of the field with a site
area of 0.18ha.
The site has no relevant planning history, however, on land the other side of the road an application was submitted on the
6th May 2020 for the erection of an affordable dwelling to include new vehicular access and the the installation of a package
treatment works (Application A200371 refers). This application was withdrawn on the 8th September 2020.
DETAILS OF DEVELOPMENT
The application seeks full planning permission for the siting of 3 glamping pods, alterations to the existing access and the
installation of a package treatment plant. The site will be accessed via the existing lane that runs to the property known as
Felinucheldre which will lead to the proposed parking area. From the parking area each hut will be acessed via a
pedestrian path. Improvements to the visibilty splays to the junction of the farm lane with the county road and also to the
entrance to the parking area will be required to meet the requirements of the Highway Authority.
The glamping pods are of two sizes and are designed to cater for couples and families. The Podlodge design is 5.90m (L) x
6.0m (W) x 2.77m (H) and the Preseli design - 6.0m (L) x 3.96 (W) x 3.05 (H).The total internal floorspace of the glamping
pods is given as 95m2 and it is proposed that the opening hours shall be 7 days per week.
A Design and Access Statement and Tourist Impact Assessment was submitted with the application. It states that the use of
the development will be solely for tourism. This will offer accommodation for tourists to be able to visit West Wales and its
surrounding attractions. The applicants currently operate a farm business with the farm house and yard being some 400m to
the west on the edge of the village at Pendre. The Assessment provides a statement from the applicants which states:
‘Having been farming sheep for ten years at Pendre we have made the decision that we would like to diversify the business
away from depending on sheep sales to holiday accommodation. We have made this decision due to the fluctuation and
volatility of the market and a huge increase in costs for feed fertilizers and animal husbandry sundries. we believe this is the
right decision to make in order to ensure that the farm is viable to sustain future generations at Pendre’.
In terms of design the Design and Access Statement states that:
"The appearance of the pods have been designed to be of single storey construction so that it does not detract from its
surroundings and visually stand out in its environment. The proposed pods will be in horizontal timber cladding to all walls in
which will complement the materials surrounding the site. The roof will be clad in a metal sheeted material which can be
seen used on many agricultural buildings in the locality. To bring natural light into the spaces, anthracite grey UPVC patio
doors and windows have been used. The colour of these elements will complement the timber cladding seamlessly. This
selection of materials can be seen on various buildings throughout the countryside in Ceredigion. Consideration has been
given to the appearance of the scheme from the county road and beyond. The siting of the proposed pods will not visible
from the main road due to the topography of the land."
The Statement goes on to provide a justification as to why the applicants believe that the proposal is policy compliant
concluding that:
"The proposal consists of a small scale development which will have minimal impact on its environment but a positive impact
in the local community and surrounding area by generating income revenue and employment to many local businesses."
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND GUIDANCE

Page 17

23 / 43

These Local Development Plan policies are applicable in the determination of this application:
S04 Development in "Linked Settlements and Other Locations"
LU14 Countrywide Tourism Accomodation Sites: Static and Touring Caravans.
DM06 High Quality Design and Placemaking
DM10 Design and Landscaping
DM17 General Landscape
The following Welsh Government planning policy documents and Technical Advice Notes are also applicable to the
determination of this application:
Future Wales; The National Plan 2040
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, February 2021
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities
OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to exercise its various functions
with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to
prevent, crime and disorder in its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result of the proposed decision.
EQUALITY ACT 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age; disability; gender reassignment;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation; marriage and civil partnership. Having due regard
to advancing equality involves:
• removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected characteristics;
• taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ from the need of other people; and
• encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other activities where their participation is
disproportionately low.
The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It is considered that the proposed
development does not have any significant implications for, or effect on, persons who share a protected characteristic, over
and above any other person.
WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015
The Well-Being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council to take reasonable steps in exercising
its functions to meet the seven well-being goals within the Act. This report has been prepared in consideration of the
Council’s duty and the 'sustainable development principle', as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation, the
Council has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to
meet their own needs.
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Outlined below is a summary of the consulation responses received on the application:
Trawsgoed Community Council - No objections to the application in principle but there were concerns regarding the site
entrance, in that it appeared that the proposed access for the glamping pods would be constructed immediately upon the
existing lane access to the highway. We would ask Highways Department to look on the suitability of such an entrance
arrangement over safety concerns. As a general comment, there were concerns about the recent spate of applications for
glamping pods and tents that have been approved within the Llanfihangel-y-Creuddyn locality which could have a negative
effect on the village scenery, especially if similar applications were to be submitted in future.
Land Drainage - No objections subject to the imposition of suitably worded conditions. SuD's approval is required.

Page 18

24 / 43

Highways - No objections subject to the imposition of suitably worded conditions relating to access visability splays, surface
water and the proposed parking area being completed before the development is brought into beneficial use.
Public Rights of Way - Public Right of Way 19/23 runs in close proximity to the proposed plans. The applicant should
ensure that the Bridleway remains open and available at all times.
Natural Resources Wales - No objections. If a private drainage solution is to be progressed, the Applicant will need to
apply for an Environmental Permit from NRW.
Ecology - Requirement for a detailed ecological enhancement and management scheme to be submitted and agreed to in
writing prior to development commencing. The scheme shall detail how the enhancements proposed will benefit biodiversity
and enhance the site, describe how the enhancements will be managed in ways that are sensitive to biodiversity, and be
accompanied by a plan map which clearly identifies the locations (and extent) of enhancements.
The following neighbouring properties were also consulted on the application:
Abertrinant Farm, Llanfihangel -y- creuddyn SY23 4LG
Abertrinant, Llanfihangel -y- creuddyn SY23 4LG
A Site Notice was also erected close to the site giving a 21 day period within which representations could be made on the
application. One letter of objection was received but was subsequently withdrawn. No further representations have been
received as a result of the neighbour consultations or Site Notice.
CONCLUSION
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that: “If regard is to be had to the development
plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be in accordance with
the plan unless material consideration indicate otherwise”.
The application site is located within the open countryside and is within an "other location" when considered under the terms
of Policy S04 of the adopted Local Development Plan. Policy S04 relates to development in "Linked Settlements and Other
Locations" and recognises that locations other than Service Centres require a degree of development to meet the needs of
existing communities. However, they are less sustainable and in the case of economic development the policy states that
development will only be permitted where:
" a. proposed on an allocated site as set out in the Settlement Group Statements and shown on the Proposals Map; or
b. a site that has not been allocated and either:
i of "small scale" meeting a specific local need; or
ii. accords with TAN 6 in terms of a rural enterprise.
In all cases
4. In terms of its physical location, regardless of development type:
a. In a "Linked Settlement" it is located within or immeadiately adjacent to the substantive built form; or
b. In "Other Locations" it either accords with the requirements of TAN 6 or in terms of affordable housing it is located
immediately adjacent to existing groups of dwellings in line with the intentions of para 9.2.22 of PPW and TAN 2, Para
1013."
Whilst Llanfihangel y Creuddyn is identified as a Linked Settlement the application site is some 600m to the east of the
village and must accord with the requirements of TAN 6 in terms of being farm diversification.
Para 2.1.1 of TAN 6 states that:
"The planning system has a key role to play in supporting the delivery of sustainable rural communities. It can help to ensure
that appropriate development takes place in the right place at the right time by making sufficient land available to provide
homes and employment opportunities for local people, helping to sustain rural services. Simultaneously, the planning
system must respond to the challenges posed by climate change, for example by accommodating the need for renewable
energy generation. It must also protect and enhance the natural and historic environment and safeguard the countryside and
open spaces. The overall goal for the planning system is to support living and working rural communities in order that they
are economically, socially and environmentally sustainable. Planning authorities should seek to strengthen rural
communities by helping to ensure that existing residents can work and access services locally using low carbon travel and
obtain a higher proportion of their energy needs from local renewable sources"

Page 19

25 / 43

Paragraph 3.1.2 goes on to state that:
"Planning authorities should support the diversification of the rural economy as a way to provide local employment
opportunities, increase local economic prosperity and minimise the need to travel for employment."
In respect of farm diversification proposals Paragraph 3.7.1 states:
"When considering planning applications for farm diversification projects, planning authorities should consider the nature and
scale of activity taking a proportionate approach to the availability of public transport and the need for improvements to the
local highway network13 14. While initial consideration should be given to converting existing buildings for employment use,
sensitively located and designed new buildings will also often be appropriate."
Policy LU14 of the adopted LDP states, inter alia, in relation to development relating to static caravans, touring caravans,
camping pitches, cabins and chaet accommodation will be considered outside of the coastal area as follows:
" a. New sites for touring caravans, camping and cabin accomodation will be permitted provided that:
i. Where possible it supports strategic tourism nodes:
ii. It supports the role and function of the settlement within which it is proposed (or otherwise nearest settlement), where
possible, by providing additional facilities that are available for use by the community;
iii. Facilities offered via the site do not affect the vitality of services which already exist within the nearest settlement; and
iv. Tourism needs and Development Impact Assessment is submitted as part of the application process."
The supporting text to the policy states in paragraph 7.90 states that:
"In areas outside of the Coastal Area development of new touring caravan, which includes motorhomes, and camping sites
will be permitted providing that it is appropriate in relation to the location. Larger sites should be located within or adjacent to
USC's and RSC's where a wider range of facilities and services should already be present. Smaller sites, which perhaps
only cater for 5 pitches and offer basic facilities, can be accomodated in Linked Settlements or adjacent to farmsteads where
suitably screened. This approach accords with Policies S02-4."
Whilst the proposal can be regarded as being policy compliant in terms of farm diversification and also in respect of the
criteria of Policy LU14 it is not located within/adjoing the settlement or adjacent to the farmstead which is some 400m away.
In considering the application, and given the sites elevated position overlooking the village, Officers sought the re-siting of
the glamping pods nearer to the farmstead in order to reduce the visual intrusion in to the landscape. In responding to this
request the applicants agent stated:
"We have considered other sites closer to the built for at Pendre but these have been ruled out for the following reasons.
- due to the topography of the land being predominantly hilly in this area, our client would like to keep this land free to allow
the farm to extend in the future.
- all services are close by to the proposed site therefore having minimal impact on the environment.
- the proposed improvement works to the access will provide a community benefit to the current users along the land and
also to road users by improving the forward visibility along the highway."
If the glamping pods were located close to the existing farmstead on lower land then an application would be looked upon
favourably. However, given the sites elevated position within the open countryside it is considered that the proposal is not in
a sustainable location for new development and would harm the character and appearance of the area contrary to LDP
policies S04, LU14, and National Planning Guidance contained within Planning Policy Wales and TAN 6. In reaching this
decision Officers are also mindful of the recent appeal decision (1st February 2022) in respect of the erection of 4 no.
holiday pods at Llethr Melyn, Trawsgoed (Appeal Ref: CAS-01347-X6P3Q3). In dismissing the appeal the Inspector stated
that:
"The proposed development would be located over 100m from the farmstead at Llethr Melyn. Whilst the proposed site is set
against a backdrop of existing trees and hedges, it is an open and elevated site visible from the highway and the nearby
bridleway. Although planting is proposed to mitigate impacts, the proposal is unlikely to be screened from public views and
given its distance from the farmstead, would appear as an isolated and intrusive form of development. I acknowledge that
the pods would be timber however they would be laid out in a regimented form and the hot tubs would be urban features that
would add to the inharmoniousness of the proposal. The appellant confirms that the layout of the pods within the site has
been designed to face the view. Given the single main opening of the pods and their placement on the site, it is likely that
any planting would need to be kept fairly low lovel to maintain those views. The proposal would apper as a separate and
incongruous development unrelated to the farmstead and would detract from the open and pleasant agricultural landscape.

Page 20

26 / 43

I conclude that the proposal would not be a sustainable location for new development and it would harm the character and
appearance of the area contrary to LDP Polices S04 and LU14, PPW and TAN 6."
Given the above and predominatly due to the sites elevated position within the open countryside it is recommended that the
application be refused.
POWER OF DELEGATION:
The application is being reported to the Development Management Committee at the request of the local member, Cllr
Meirion Davies, for the following reasons:
1. Young couple with children trying to diversify to make a living.
2. Tourists appreciate a good view.
3. No local objections to the application.
4. Proposed alterations to the existing access will provide a community benefit in terms of improving visibility to the users of
the lane and users of the highway by providing a passing place.
RECOMMENDATION:
That the application be refused given the site's elevated position within the open countryside and being contrary to Polices
S04 and LU14 of the adopted Ceredigion Local Development Plan and National Planning Policy relating to the protection of
the open countryside from inappropriate development contained with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, Februay 2021) and
Technical Advice Note 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities.

Page 21

27 / 43

2.2. A210988

Page 22

28 / 43

Rhif y Cais / Application
Reference

A210988

Derbyniwyd / Received

06-10-2021

Y Bwriad / Proposal

Residential development of 22 dwellings together with associated access roads, landscaping
and amenity space.

Lleoliad Safle
/ Site Location

Land at Ger y Cwm, Penrhyncoch, Aberystwyth, SY23 3EW

Math o Gais / Application
Full Planning
Type
Ymgeisydd / Applicant

Mr Rob Berner (Ceredigion Sustainable Development), Metal Products Business Park Prospect
Road, WS7 0AE

Asiant / Agent

Mr Geraint John (Geraint John Planning Ltd), Office 16 (house 1, 2nd Floor) The Maltings East
Tyndall Street, Cardiff, CF24 5EA

THE SITE AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
The application site is approximately 1.2ha of land situated to the east of the Ger y Cwm estate on the eastern periphery of
the settlement of Penrhyncoch. The land is partially undeveloped greenfield land and an exisitng football pitch, is
neighboured by open agricultural land to its east, a small woodland area and the Nant Silo watercourse to its south and by
residential development to its west. The majority of the site is part of the H1801 housing allocation in the Ceredigion
LDP. The proposal forms Phase 6 of development on the allocation site (ref. H1801), with previous approved applications
forming the adjacent parcels of land (refs. A160487, A170329 and A180670). To further this the site to the north benefits,
form an approved reserved matters application (ref. A200562).
DETAILS OF DEVELOPMENT
Full planning permission is sought for the erection of 22 dwellings together with associated road, landscaping and amenity
space. This proposal relates to Phase 6 of the development (plots 85 – 106). The residential area is now located outside of
the allocated site and into adjoining land and the proposed amenity area is located within a central position when considered
with previous phases of development. The western parcel of the development site is proposed as an amenity area, which will
also act as a SUDS. The amenity area will incorporate a permeable hard court 'multi use' area which will be be made
available to the community at large in addition to a grassed area to the south.
There will be a mix of housing types on site, including terraced, semi-detached and larger detached dwellings with four of
the 22 units being designated affordable units. In terms of design, the proposed dwellings will mimic the exisitng design and
appearance of dwellings found on the remainder of the Ger y Cwm estate.
Access is proposed through the previously approved phases of the Ger y Cwm development utilising the spine road running
through the site. The access road provides a carriageway width of 5.5 metres along its length, which would be continued into
the site.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICIES:
- Future Wales: The National Plan 2040
- Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11)
LOCAL PLANNING POLICIES:
These Local Development Plan policies are applicable in the determination of this application:
DM05 Sustainable Development and Planning Gain
DM06 High Quality Design and Placemaking
DM09 Design and Movement
DM10 Design and Landscaping
DM13 Sustainable Drainage Systems

Page 23

33 / 43

DM14 Nature Conservation and Ecological Connectivity
DM15 Local Biodiversity Conservation
LU02 Requirements Regarding All Residential Developments
LU04 Meeting a Range of Housing Needs
LU05 Securing the Delivery of Housing Development
LU06 Housing Density
LU24 Provision of New Open Space
S01 Sustainable Growth
S03 Development in Rural Service Centres (RSCs)
S05 Affordable Housing
OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998
Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to exercise its various functions
with due regard to the likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to
prevent, crime and disorder in its area. This duty has been considered in the evaluation of this application. It is considered
that there would be no significant or unacceptable increase in crime and disorder as a result of the proposed decision.
EQUALITY ACT 2010
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age; disability; gender reassignment;
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation; marriage and civil partnership. Having due regard
to advancing equality involves:
• removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected characteristics;
• taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ from the need of other people; and
• encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other activities where their participation is
disproportionately low.
The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It is considered that the proposed
development does not have any significant implications for, or effect on, persons who share a protected characteristic, over
and above any other person.
WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015
The Well-Being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 places a duty on the Council to take reasonable steps in exercising
its functions to meet the seven well-being goals within the Act. This report has been prepared in consideration of the
Council’s duty and the 'sustainable development principle', as set out in the 2015 Act. In reaching the recommendation, the
Council has sought to ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to
meet their own needs.
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Cyngor Cymuned Trefeurig Community Council - Object the proposal due to the reduction in size of the amenity area.
Highways - No objection STC
Land Drainage - Comments
Natural Resources Wales - No objection STC
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water - No objection STC
CONCLUSION
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that: “If regard is to be had to the development

Page 24

34 / 43

plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be in accordance with
the plan unless material consideration indicate otherwise”.
This application seeks permission for the residential development of 22 units which relates to Phase 6 of the Ger y Cwm
estate located on the eastern periphery of the settlement of Penrhyncoch.
The vast majority of the site is formally allocated under designation H1801 in the Ceredigion LDP for residential
development. Penrhyncoch is defined in the LDP as a Rural Service Centre.
Policy S01 of the LDP which covers Sustainable Growth states growth will be focused to deliver stronger, more sustainable
communities to be achieved by providing opportunity for development. In delivering this growth, the County’s environment
and resources are protected and enhanced.
Policy S03 of the LDP deals with Development in Rural Service Centres and supports housing development within RSCs up
to the housing provision level identified for the settlement group and provided it accords with the Settlement Group
Statement designation and satisfies all other Plan policies.
The current housing figures for the Penrhyncoch Settlement Group show that the service centre has exceeded its housing
allocation by 27 units. Out of a requirement of 105 units Penrhyncoch has seen 61 completions and a current figure of 71
units with outstanding consents. However, it is clear that there is a lack of housing delivery in adjacent settlements to
Penrhyncoch, notably Bow Street and Aberystwyth, as such, it is considered material that the housing target within these
settlements are considered.
Bow Street has a remaining requirement of 57 dwellings and Aberystwyth has 1116. In light of the above it is considered that
the proposal for 22 dwellings will contribute to the remaining housing requirement within Penrhyncoch, as well contribute to
the evident need for housing within nearby settlements, notably Aberystwyth and Bow Street. Furthermore, within the Report
on LDP Housing Commitments at February 2022, it is outlined that there is a remaining requirement for the whole of
Ceredigion for 2,100 residential dwellings, as such, the principle of providing 22 dwellings on site, would positively contribute
to Ceredigion’s housing targets.
As such it is considered that the application is in line with Policy S01 and S03 of the LDP.
As highlighted within the Ceredigion LDP, Policy LU06 (Housing Density) and within the Settlement Group Statements, the
developable area for the entire allocation equates to approximately 2.95 ha and a guide density of 30 dwellings per ha. The
site subject of this planning application covers approximately 1.2 hectares when including the space allocated for amenity
area. Based on the guide density highlighted as part of the allocation (30 units per hectare), this site has the potential to
yield 36 units. The proposed site layout successfully shows that 22 units, equating to a density of circa 16 units per hectare.
This is considered to be an appropriate and evidenced ‘yield’ for the site, where the density is appropriate with on-site
constraints, including the provision of public open space, taken into account at this stage.
Based on the size of the site and the size of the individual buildings it is the opinion that this would not represent overdevelopment of the site and it is considered that all units would enjoy adequate parking provision and adequate private
amenity space. The site has been designed so that there would be no overlooking / privacy problems. The plans show the
design and appearance of the units in keeping with the character of neighbouring properties / built form of Penrhyncoch.
The settlement statement in relation to the allocated site states that open space has to be provided in addition to retaining
the exisitng community facility (football pitch). As part of the original planning permission for the development of the whole
site permission was also granted for the provision of open space totalling 0.88ha. The current application looks to halve that
provision and provide an open space requirement of 0.44ha. Negotiations have taken place in relation to the provision of
open space in association with the development as the LPA needs to be satisfied that there would not be a loss or reduction
in open space provision unless any alternative would represent a planning gain. Agreement has been reached with the
developers that a new multi purpose hard court measuring 30m x 18m will be made available for community use and a
management company will be set up to manage the facility in addition to a grassed open space area. Although not to be
provided at this stage, provision will be made available to enable the installation of permanent floodlighting at the facility.
Conditions regarding hours of operation will be imposed on any planning permission. It is considered that this element is
acceptable however, it is suggested that the provision and management of the open space including any phasing
arrangements be included in the S106 agreement (in addition to the affordable housing requirement).
Matters relating to highway safety including access and parking; ecological matters and drainage and foul and surface water
arrangements are acceptable and can be conditioned appropriately.
No objections were received to the proposal either from statutory consultees or third parties apart from the Community
Council who object on grounds of the reduction in the amenity area contrary to what was previously agreed. As it is

Page 25

35 / 43

proposed to introduce new community facilities to compensate for the reduction of the size of the exisitng amenity area it is
considered that this proposed arrangement outweighs the objection received.
In conclusion, it is considered that the proposal for the residential development of this site is acceptable in principle and
would represent a significant community benefit especially through the introduction of the communal multi use space area.
Development of this site would also assist the Local Authority in meeting its target in relation to its housing strategy.
As such, it is recommended that the application be approved subject to conditions and the completion of a S106 agreement
towards affordable housing provision and the management and phasing of the open space area.
RECOMMENDATION:
To APPROVE the application subject to conditions pending the completion of a S106 agreement towards the provision of
affordable housing and management and phasing of the open space area.

Page 26

36 / 43

Agenda Item 7

3. Diprwydedig/Delegated
07-07-2022 - 03-08-2022

#

Cyfeirnod y Cais
Ymgeisydd
/ Application
/ Applicant
Reference

Bwriad / Proposal

Lleoliad / Location

A200749

Variation of conditions 2
(approved plans), 15
(site levels) and 16
Derek Ford
(surface water disposal
(Derek Ford
details) and removal of
Constructio
condition 17 (stability of
n Ltd)
the Class 3 Road) of
planning permission
A050994

A210265

Mr Endaf
Jenkins

Erection of Steel Portal
Framed Building for the
accommodation of
manure together with all
other associated works

A210672

Mr V
Hesden

Proposed outline
planning consent for the
Plot Adj, Awel Haf Dolau,
erection of an affordable
Llandre, Aberystwyth,
dwelling of 142 sqm in
SY24 5AE
area with a detached
garage of 25 sqm

A210692

Ms M
McAvoy
(Dyfed
Powys
Police)

5

Penderfyniad /
Decision

Dyddiad
Penderfyniad
/ Decision
Issued Date

The Orchard, Bow
Street, Ceredigion

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

27-07-2022

Bronwenllwyd,
Swyddffynnon, SY25
6AP

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

21-07-2022

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau a Cytundeb
S106 / Approved
Subject to Conditions
and S106 Agreement

26-07-2022

Installation of CCTV
cameras, wireless links
and associated works

Various Locations Within Caniatawyd gydag
Aberaeron Town,
Amodau / Approved
Aberaeron, SA46 0AP
Subject to Conditions

13-07-2022

A210693

Ms M
McAvoy
(Dyfed
Powys
Police)

Installation of CCTV
cameras, wireless links
and associated works

Various Locations Within Caniatawyd gydag
Aberaeron Town,
Amodau / Approved
Aberaeron, SA46 0AP
Subject to Conditions

13-07-2022

6

A210990

Mrs M
Walker

Gwynfa, Cefnllwyd,
Proposed extension and
Capel Dewi,
alterations to dwelling
Aberystwyth. SY23 3HX

7

A211038

Mr Gareth
Roberts

Single detached
dwelling

Plot Rear Brook Terrace
Gwrthodwyd /
Llanbadarn Fawr,
Refused
Aberystwyth, SY23 3RE

26-07-2022

A211076

Mrs
Mearina
James

Proposed extension to
the existing agricultural
building for animal
housing.

Penyberth Isaf,
Caniatawyd gydag
Penrhyncoch,
Amodau / Approved
Aberystwyth, SY23 3EQ Subject to Conditions

12-07-2022

Ms Towns

Necessary roofing
remedial and renovation
works to improve poor
workmanship and water
ingress of roof and roof
parapet wall.

Hen Ystablau, Pontsian, Caniatâd wedi ei roi /
Llandysul. SA44 4UL
Consent Granted

14-07-2022

1

2

3

4

8

9

A220075

Page 27

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

08-07-2022

37 / 43

#

Cyfeirnod y Cais
Ymgeisydd
/ Application
/ Applicant
Reference

Bwriad / Proposal

Lleoliad / Location

Penderfyniad /
Decision

Dyddiad
Penderfyniad
/ Decision
Issued Date

A220145

Renovate and refurbish
Grade II Listed property,
including conservation
repair of storm damaged
roof, rebuild of unsafe
Mr and Mrs
Penybont, Ponterwyd,
masonry walls and
Caniatâd wedi ei roi /
A&J
Aberystwyth, Ceredigion,
chimneys, minor
Consent Granted
Seymour
SY23 3JY
rearrangement of internal
layout and upgrade of
flooring specification,
and new sustainable
heating system.

14-07-2022

A220147

Relocation of existing
boiler flue from
discharging onto
Hen Ystablau, Pontsian, Caniatâd wedi ei roi /
Ms Towns`
neighbouring property, to Llandysul, SA44 4UL
Consent Granted
protruding through the
roof.

14-07-2022

12

A220179

Mr David
Lewis
(Barcud
Cyf)

13

A220211

(Llandyfriog
Install a defibrillator in
Community
telephone kiosk.
Council)

14

A220222

Discharge of condition
17 on planning
Mr and Mrs
application A210411
Calvert
(Pollution prevention
Plan)

15

A220228

Mr C Ewart

16

A220233

Orllwyn, Tremain,
Mr and Mrs
Proposed New Extension Cardigan, Ceredigion,
P Rood
SA43 1SJ

17

A220237

Wendy
Gaskell

Proposed extension to
include demolition of
existing side extension

18

A220251

Mr John
Hopkins

Demolition of garages
Glanystwyth, Llanfarian.
and sun room to facilitate
Aberystwyth, SY23 4BX
two storey side extension

19

A220260

Mr Phil
Carrington

20

A220267

10

11

21

A220273

New Part M Compliant
Ramped Access from
Afallen Deg Bow Street,
Existing Highway to Main Aberystwyth,
Entrance of Sheltered
Aberystwyth, SY24 5AZ
Housing Facility.

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

26-07-2022

Kiosk, outside Derlwyn,
Llandyfriog, Newcastle
Emlyn. SA38 9HB

Caniatâd wedi ei roi /
Consent Granted

12-07-2022

Land to east of Renfrew
Drive, Yhyslas, Borth,
SY24 5JY

Amod(au) wedi'u
rhyddhau yn llawn /
Condition(s) Fully
Discharged

08-07-2022

25 Tregerddan, Bow
Caniatawyd gydag
Proposed improvements
Street, Ceredigion, SY24 Amodau / Approved
to parking provisions
5AU
Subject to Conditions

07-07-2022

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

22-07-2022

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

22-07-2022

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

13-07-2022

Proposed demolition of
previous extension &
Erection of single storey
extension

Caniatawyd gydag
Llain, Cwmrheidol, Capel
Amodau / Approved
Bangor, SY23 3NB
Subject to Conditions

25-07-2022

Mr M
Morgan

Proposed Alterations &
Extension to Dwelling

21 Greenland Meadows, Caniatawyd gydag
Cardigan, Ceredigion,
Amodau / Approved
SA43 1AJ
Subject to Conditions

22-07-2022

Geraint &
Pheona
Thomas

Proposed extension to
the side of existing
dwelling, proposed
Hafan Hedd, Cardigan,
Verandah to rear of
Ceredigion, SA43 1PJ
property, and associated
works.

Llwyncrwn Uchaf,
Talgarreg, Llandysul,
Ceredigion, SA44 4XJ

Page 28

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

22-07-2022

38 / 43

#

22

23

Cyfeirnod y Cais
Ymgeisydd
/ Application
/ Applicant
Reference

A220283

A220299

Bwriad / Proposal

Lleoliad / Location

Penderfyniad /
Decision

Dyddiad
Penderfyniad
/ Decision
Issued Date

Pencarow, Penrhiwllan,
Llandysul, Ceredigion,
SA44 5NG

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

27-07-2022

Ms J
Thomas

Retrospective application
for ground floor side
43 North Parade,
elevation alterations and
Aberystwyth. SY23 2JN
change of use to a 7
bedroom HMO

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

01-08-2022

Tynnwyd yn ôl /
Withdrawn

01-08-2022

Mr and Mrs Extension to rear of
G Doyle
existing dwelling.

24

A220300

Ms J
Thomas

Retrospective application
for internal and ground
43 North Parade,
floor side elevation
Aberystwyth. SY23 2JN
alterations to a Listed
Building

25

A220310

Mr Andrew
Martin

Pantybeudy Hall,
Proposed outbuilding for
Llangeitho, Tregaron.
storage purposes
SY25 6TT

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

22-07-2022

A220318

Mrs Sarah
Mair
Morgans

Proposed removal of the
existing softwood sliding
sash windows and their
Flat 1, 16 Princess St,
replacement with sliding
Aberystwyth. SY23 1DX
upvc windows,
appearance to match the
existing.

Tynnwyd yn ôl /
Withdrawn

25-07-2022

A220328

Mrs Laura
Jones
(Llaeth
Llanfair)

Llanrhystud Community
Retrospective application
Hall, Llanrhystud,
for 24hr. milk hut
Aberystwyth, SY23 5BT

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

19-07-2022

28

A220330

Mr Andrew
Davies
(Wales &
West
Housing
Association
)

Discharge of condition
13 of planning
permission A200730
(Engineering drawings,
design calculations and
surface water drainage
measures).

Aberaeron Hospital,
Princes Avenue,
Aberaeron, SA46 0JJ

Gwrthodwyd /
Refused

01-08-2022

29

A220341

Mr Davies

Modification of S106
Agreement

Plots at Golwg y Dyffryn, Dychwelwyd yn
Llanwnnen, Lampeter.
annilys / Returned
SA48 7LJ
Invalid

A220348

Mr Andrew
Davies
(Wales &
West
Housing
Association
)

NMA to planning
permission A200730
Aberaeron Hospital,
(Amended plan - Addition
Princes Avenue,
of 30 No. PV Panels and
Aberaeron, SA46 0JJ
1 No. rooflight per
building).

A220349

Non material minor
Mr D
amendment to planning
Donnachie permission A210605 & Ms E Hall (Amended plans window details).

A220357

Mr J
O'Rourke
(Prifysgol
Aberystwyt
h
University)

26

27

30

31

32

Discharge of condition
14 of planning
permission A210459 (Method Statement for
Fixtures and Fittings).

12-07-2022

Caniatawyd /
Approved

08-07-2022

Archnoa, Heol y Llan,
Llanbadarn Fawr,
Aberystwyth, SY23 3SA

Caniatawyd /
Approved

22-07-2022

Old College, King St,
Aberystwyth & 1 & 2
New Promenade,
Aberystwyth, SY23 2BH

Caniatawyd /
Approved

11-07-2022

Page 29

39 / 43

#

33

Cyfeirnod y Cais
Ymgeisydd
/ Application
/ Applicant
Reference

A220365

Bwriad / Proposal

Lleoliad / Location

Amod(au) wedi'u
Penybanc, Penrhyncoch,
rhyddhau yn llawn /
Aberystwyth, Ceredigion,
Condition(s) Fully
SY23 3ER
Discharged

Discharge of condition 4
of planning permission
A181180 - (Traffic
Management Plan).

Caniatawyd gydag
Amodau / Approved
Subject to Conditions

01-08-2022

Dychwelwyd yn
annilys / Returned
Invalid

19-07-2022

34

A220370

Mr Rose

35

A220372

Kristian
Perch

Conversion of existing
Barn into a dwelling.

36

A220379

Mr
Jonathan
Bell

Occupation of the
dwelling in breach of the Maes Gwyn, Llanfair
planning condition
Clydogau, Lampeter.
regarding agricultural
SA48 8LG
occupancy.

37

A220383

(Western
Power
Electricity lines
Distribution)

38

A220395

Amy
Mawson

A220406

Change of use and
conversion of derelict
Mr Stephen forge and workshop
Magee
building to single
dwelling including
associated landscaping

A220408

Mr D
Davies

A220409

Discharge condition 3 of
Mr S Owen
planning permission
& Miss E
A210390 - Schedule of
Rowbotham
materials

Land at Tynant,
Llangeitho, Tregaron.
SY25 6TX

A220418

Mr and Mrs
Evan &
Maggie
Roberts

40

41

42

43

44

45

Dyddiad
Penderfyniad
/ Decision
Issued Date

(Tai Wales
& West
Housing )

Proposed demolition and
rebuild of existing
Frongoch, Llechryd,
extension, proposed
Cardigan, Ceredigion,
patio area to rear of
SA43 2QL
existing dwelling and all
associated works.

39

Penderfyniad /
Decision

Erection of a two storey
side extension and rear
extension.

Discharge condition 3 of
planning permission
A200761 - Schedule of
materials

Tanrallt, Capel Bangor,
SY23 4EL

13-07-2022

Caniatawyd y
Tystysgrif / Certificate 12-07-2022
Granted

Tanners Cottage,
Penparc, Cardigan.
SA43 1QZ

Dim gwrthwynebiad /
No Objection

27-07-2022

Glasfryn, Pennant,
Llanon, Ceredigion,
SY23 5JH

Dychwelwyd yn
annilys / Returned
Invalid

12-07-2022

Trewyddil Forge, Synod
Inn, Llandysul,
Ceredigion, SA44 6JJ

Tynnwyd yn ôl /
Withdrawn

22-07-2022

Amod(au) wedi'u
Troedrhiwceir, Aberffrwd, rhyddhau yn llawn /
Aberystwyth. SY23 3ND Condition(s) Fully
Discharged

13-07-2022

Amod(au) wedi'u
rhyddhau yn llawn /
Condition(s) Fully
Discharged

13-07-2022

Discharge condition 4 of
planning permission
A201017 - Method
Statement

Amod(au) wedi'u
Eryl, 2 Lower Regent St, rhyddhau yn llawn /
Aberaeron. SA46 0HZ
Condition(s) Fully
Discharged

25-07-2022

A220419

Mr and Mrs
Evan &
Maggie
Roberts

Discharge condition 5 of
planning permission
A201017 - Rainwater
goods specification

Eryl, 2 Lower Regent
Street, Aberaeron,
Ceredigion, SA46 0HZ

Amod(au) wedi'u
rhyddhau yn llawn /
Condition(s) Fully
Discharged

25-07-2022

A220420

Mr and Mrs
Evan &
Maggie
Roberts

Discharge condition 6 of
planning permission
A201017 - Details of
junctions

Eryl, 2 Lower Regent
Street, Aberaeron,
Ceredigion, SA46 0HZ

Amod(au) wedi'u
rhyddhau yn llawn /
Condition(s) Fully
Discharged

25-07-2022

A220421

Mr and Mrs
Evan &
Maggie
Roberts

Discharge condition 7 of
planning permission
A201017 - Sample of
materials

Eryl, 2 Lower Regent
Street, Aberaeron,
Ceredigion, SA46 0HZ

Amod(au) wedi'u
rhyddhau yn llawn /
Condition(s) Fully
Discharged

25-07-2022

Page 30

40 / 43

#

46

Cyfeirnod y Cais
Ymgeisydd
/ Application
/ Applicant
Reference

A220439

Simon
Mitchell

Bwriad / Proposal

Discharge of condition 4
from planning permission
A211009 - Bats Roosting
Method Statement

Lleoliad / Location

Synod Mill Coach
House, Lon y Felin,
Cross Inn, Llandysul,
SA44 6LY

Page 31

Penderfyniad /
Decision
Amod(au) wedi'u
rhyddhau yn llawn /
Condition(s) Fully
Discharged

Dyddiad
Penderfyniad
/ Decision
Issued Date

15-07-2022

41 / 43

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

4. Penderfyniadau Apeliadau/Appeal Decisions
07-07-2022 - 03-08-2022

#

Cais /
Gorfoda
Cyfeirnod
eth /
yr Apel /
Linked
Apeliwr / Rhesymau dros apelio /
Appeal
Applicati Appellant
Grounds for Appeal
Reference
on /
Enforce
ment

Lleoliad / Location

1

CAS01494S9H7F0 A210461

A210461

Mr T
Havard

Refusal of planning
permission

2

CAS01594H8F0N5

A200540

Sonia
Gibbon

The failure of the LPA to Derry Omond Railway
give its decision within
Halt Betws Bledrws,
the appropriate period
Lampeter

Land Affronting Lewis
Terrace Lewis Terrace,
New Quay. SA45 9PJ

Page 33

Dyddiad
Penderfyniad
Penderfyniad
Allanol /
Allanol / External
External
Decision
Decision
Date

Dismissed

03-08-2022

Allowed with
Conditions

19-07-2022

42 / 43

This page is intentionally left blank

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl

Appeal Decision

Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 30/3/22

Site visit made on 30/3/22

gan Declan K Beggan BSc (Hons) MSc
DipTP DipMan MRTPI

by Declan K Beggan BSc (Hons) MSc
DipTP DipMan MRTPI

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion
Cymru

an Inspector appointed by the Welsh
Ministers

Dyddiad: 03.08.2022

Date: 03.08.2022

Appeal Ref: CAS-01494-S9H7F0
Site address: Land affronting Lewis Terrace, Lewis Terrace, New Quay, SA45
9PJ
The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me
as the appointed Inspector.
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Dr Tom Havard against the decision of Ceredigion County
Council.
The development proposed is described as ‘Development of a single storey
dwelling with associated access, parking and private amenity area’.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Procedural Matters
2. After the site visit the appellant submitted a Section 106 legal agreement. The agreement
relates to a commuted sum in regard to affordable housing provision. The Council are
satisfied with its contents and are signatories to the document. I have had regard to the
agreement in my consideration of the appeal.
Main Issues
3. I consider the main issues in this case are the effect of the proposed development on:
•

The setting of nearby listed buildings;

•

The character and appearance of the surrounding area, including the setting of the
adjacent New Quay Conservation Area (CA);

•

The effect of the proposed development on the living conditions of nearby occupants
with particular reference to privacy;

•

Highway safety;

Page 35

Appeal Ref: CAS-01494-S9H7F0

•

Land stability; and,

•

If harm is found regarding any of the above, whether there are other material
considerations sufficient to outweigh the harm.

Reasons
4. The appeal site comprises an irregular shaped parcel of land located on coastal hillside to
the rear of a terrace of dwellings located at Marine Terrace within the settlement of New
Quay. The site forms part of 13 Marine Terrace and is used in connection with the
property. During my site visit I noted that the site had paraphernalia associated with
domestic use such as a shed, an outdoor fire area, seating area, trampoline, raised
horticultural bed, and children’s outdoor toys. Vehicular access to the site is off Lewis
Terrace, with pedestrian access to No. 13 gained from another garden area to the rear of
the property. A public footpath which is also part of the Welsh Coastal Path runs through
the site which links Lewis Terrace to Marine Terrace. To the east and south the site abuts
the CA.
5. I note that the appellant’s Planning Statement asserts, “Numerous properties along Lewis
Terrace, Marine Terrace and Rock Street are listed” and these are identified on the
submitted Historic Wales Map extract. The Planning Statement notes that “a number of
the properties along Lewis Terrace and Marine Terrace are grade II listed, these dwellings
are mostly considered to be listed due to their group value with adjoining terraced
houses”. The listed properties are sited within the CA.
6. The appeal site is within very close proximity of many listed buildings, some of which have
curtilages directly adjacent to the appeal site. Despite variation in properties, this part of
New Quay has townscape with a very definite character as highlighted by Cadw in their
letter dated 3 March 2022, where it describes three distinct tiers of terraces wrapping
around the coastal hillside with properties mainly built in the late Georgian style and
whose linear street pattern has altered little over the years.
7. My site visit revealed that many of the dwellings along Lewis Terrace, Marine Terrace and
Rock Street appeared little altered with features such as unpainted stucco and painted
roughcast walls, slate roofs, stone stacks, and hornless sash windows including 12 and
16 pane types. From multiple viewpoints around New Quay, the separate tiers of
properties are evident due to intervening green space in the form of gardens. The above
features at an individual level and collectively add to the significance of the listed
properties as heritage assets.
8. As stated above, New Quay has many listed buildings and other heritage assets
contained within a relatively small area. The fabric of the settlement and the CA is one of
a tightly knit arrangement of buildings separated by greenery and facing seawards.
Adjacent to the appeal site are many period properties of architectural merit and historic
significance, which are indicative of the wider built environment as seen within the CA.
Collectively these buildings, the space they occupy, their relationship to each other and
intervening open space, make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of
the CA, and contribute to its significance as a heritage asset.
9. The appeal site although it has elements of development on it, nonetheless, appears from
many viewpoints as an open green space that relates well to and visually reflects the
general pattern of development in the area; it makes a positive contribution to the
character and appearance of the CA.

Page
2 36

Appeal Ref: CAS-01494-S9H7F0

Listed Buildings
10. Section 16 (2) and 66 (1) of the Act [The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990] require the decision maker, in considering whether to grant listed
building consent, for any works, or development, affecting a listed building, or its setting,
to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses; Planning Policy
Wales Edition 11 (PPW) and Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (TAN
24), reiterate this stance.
11. TAN 24 defines the setting of an historic asset as including the surroundings in which it is
understood, experienced, and appreciated, embracing present and past relationships to
the surrounding landscape. PPW states that it is important that the planning system looks
to protect, conserve and enhance the significance of historic assets, and that this will
include consideration of the setting of an historic asset which might extend beyond its
curtilage.
12. The proposed development would result in a single storey flat roofed dwelling of
contemporary design. In terms of the listed building aspect of the Council’s first reason
for refusal, it argues the proposal by reason of its location, design, and appearance would
not preserve or enhance the setting of those nearby listed buildings, nor indeed the CA
which I address later. The Council are of the view that the proposed development is at
odds with the prevailing character of the area and would result in a standalone dwelling
that fails to compliment the area in terms of layout, scale and height to the detriment of
the listed buildings.
13. Whilst I appreciate the proposal is supported by a number of documents such as a
Landscape Character and Visual Impact Assessment, and a Planning Statement, along
with other appeal submissions, nonetheless the focus of those submissions is not on the
impact of the proposal on the setting of heritage assets. The Act requires that special
regard (my emphasis) be paid to preserving listed buildings or their settings.
14. Based on my site observations and bearing in mind the views of Cadw, I consider the
setting of the various listed buildings to my mind is strongly expressed in their
architectural interest and common features, their group value as a coherent collection of
buildings in a distinctive local style within a townscape that is predominantly tiered and
terraced in nature, and also interspersed with greenery that is generally devoid of
development.
15. The setting of the numerous listed properties, although slightly diluted by some recent
development, nonetheless retain much of the historic character as described above. The
proposal by contrast would introduce a structure that due to its modern appearance would
be at odds with the prevailing character of adjacent buildings, many of which are listed
and which the proposal would be seen within the context of their setting.
16. Contrary to the views of the appellant, despite the proposed dwelling’s single storey
nature and use of materials, I consider its overall form and contemporary appearance
would draw the eye of the observer whether that be at close range such as the adjacent
public footpath which also forms part of the Wales coastal path, or from various more
distant vantage points within the locality such as around the harbour, with any effects
being much more pronounced than that suggested by the appellant. The proposal’s
location within an open green corridor of land adds to its prominence, and its development
as proposed would be to the significant detriment of the setting of nearby listed buildings
which have a collective group value.

Page
3 37

Appeal Ref: CAS-01494-S9H7F0

17. The development of the appeal site with a dwelling would erode and detract from the
prevailing character of the area that appears as distinct tiers of terraces wrapped around
the coastal hillside whose linear street form is interspersed and separated by a discernible
pattern of open space and vegetation that forms part of a coherent townscape that allows
the historic street pattern to be appreciated and which is integral to, and forms the
backdrop to the setting of the listed buildings.
18. I appreciate the existing site has already got built development on it but its impact at close
range and particularly so with distant views is minimal. I also appreciate that other
properties in the locality have erected various structures in their gardens, however these
structures are very modest in scale and as a result their impact is not visually comparable
to the proposed development. Whilst additional landscaping would assist in screening the
development from view within the setting of the listed buildings, nonetheless it is still likely
to be evident at close range and in the winter months when screening effects are reduced
due to loss of foliage.
19. The appellant argues that the proposal reflects in scale and form dwellings to its rear,
however in terms of the significance to the setting of the listed buildings these are very
much in the minority and they, unlike the proposed development, utilise materials that in
part reflect those used on many of the listed properties, and generally follow the
pattern/alignment of development that wraps around the hillside in identifiable bands.
20. I appreciate that PPW at paragraph 3.16 advocates innovative design and that decision
makers should not attempt to impose a particular architectural style, however, PPW under
the same paragraph also states that decision makers need to examine the issues in detail
and consider if the proposal meets the objectives of good design including the relationship
between the site and its surroundings (my emphasis), and that is exactly what I have
done.
21. Pulling the threads of the above together, I find that the proposed development for the
reasons given above would adversely affect the setting of nearby listed buildings to the
detriment of their significance as heritage assets. As a result, the proposal would run
contrary to the Act, policies DM06 and DM07 of the LDP, and national planning policy
contained within PPW, in addition to advice within TAN 24, which collectively seek to
protect heritage assets such as listed buildings.
Character and Appearance/Conservation Area
22. The immediate area directly adjacent to the appeal site comprises the CA which is
characterised by many notable historic period buildings which despite variation have a
very definitive townscape character with their tight knit arrangement separated by
greenery and the space around; collectively these buildings, the space they occupy and
their relationship to each other, make a positive contribution to the character and
appearance of the CA, and contribute to its significance as a heritage asset.
23. The Act requires that special attention be paid to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance of CA’s. PPW states there will be a strong
presumption against the granting of planning permission for development that would
damage the character or appearance of the CA or its setting to an unacceptable level. As
mentioned previously, PPW also refers to setting extending beyond the curtilage of an
asset. The Cadw publication, “Setting of Historic Assets in Wales” states that “Setting
often extends beyond the property boundary of an individual historic asset into a broader
landscape context”.
24. TAN 24 refers to conservation area designation providing the basis for policies designed
to preserve or enhance all the aspects of character or appearance that define an area’s

Page
4 38

Appeal Ref: CAS-01494-S9H7F0

special interest: this might include the pattern of settlement and the organisation of space
and routes as well as the style and type of building, and the use of materials and detail.
Policy DM06 of the LDP states that regard should be had to whether a site is located
within or near a conservation area, whilst policy DM07 of the LDP refers to development
having regard to national guidance.
25. Whilst the site may be outside of the CA, nonetheless, planning policy has long
recognised the relevance of conservation areas to schemes outside of their boundaries.
The site currently makes a minor positive contribution to the setting of the CA due to the
fact that it has little in the way of built development on it and it provides a sense of the
openness, greenery and separation of the built structures that form part of the setting to
not only listed buildings but the overall CA. The settings of the various heritage assets
adjacent to the site are currently not detrimentally affected by its current state.
26. It is notable that the Cadw response to this appeal referred to the group value of the listed
buildings adjacent to the appeal site which are within the CA; any detriment to the setting
of any of these individual assets is likely to lessen the group value of the others. Bearing
in mind my findings on the first main issue, then it must follow that the proposal would be
detrimental to the historic character and appearance of the CA and its significance as a
heritage asset, and as a result it would not be enhanced.
27. In arriving at this view, I am conscious that there are a number of detached dwellings to
the rear of the site on higher ground, however, even these, unlike the appeal proposal,
despite some modern additions, reflect elements of the local vernacular in their use of
materials, space about dwellings and the general pattern/alignment of development.
28. In terms of landscape character, the appellant argues that based on the screening
provided by a combination of the natural topography of the area, intervening residential
properties and vegetation, it is considered that the site could accommodate a new
residential development without unacceptable landscape character impacts in its
immediate setting or the wider landscape; I disagree.
29. In terms of LANDMAP which provides a landscape character assessment tool for Wales,
the site falls within the New Quay aspect area. In regards to the ‘Visual and Sensory
Aspect’ area the locality is described as being of moderate overall value, and is a
harbourside/seaside village comprising irregular terraces set into steep slopes of the
headland with outstanding views along the coast, and that the principal guidelines are to
conserve and enhance the traditional village core and develop guidance for integration of
development into the landscape (my emphasis); for the reasons previously described
above the proposed development does not achieve this.
30. Notwithstanding the submitted details, partial views of the proposed dwelling would be
evident from various vantage points in the locality and as detailed above, the proposal
would appear as a visible modern structure, that would be in contrast to surrounding
townscape/landscape character. Whilst in proximity to other built development,
nonetheless the development of a site relatively devoid of structures, would detract from
and, in my opinion, unacceptably harm the landscape character and appearance of the
area, notwithstanding any mitigating effects such as local topography, or
existing/proposed landscaping.
31. The proposal due to its detrimental impact on the setting of the CA, would neither
preserve nor enhance its character or appearance. In addition, the proposal would
unacceptably harm the landscape character of the area. This would run contrary to
policies DM06, and DM07 and DM17 of the LDP, and national planning policy contained
within PPW, in addition to advice within TAN 24, which collectively seek to protect
heritage assets such as conservation areas and/or seek to safeguard visual amenities.

Page
5 39

Appeal Ref: CAS-01494-S9H7F0

Living Conditions
32. The Council’s second refusal reason relates to the impact of the proposal on the amenity
of neighbouring properties in regard to loss of privacy and a perceived feeling of being
overlooked.
33. The site adjoins the rear boundary of the properties along Marine Terrace and due to the
topography of the area, it lies at a higher level, roughly just above the eaves of those
properties. The site is relatively generous in terms of its area and the proposed dwelling
would be set back adjacent to the eastern boundary. The Council accept there would be
no direct overlooking from the dwelling itself, rather the harm it is argued is that the use of
the overall site for separate residential purposes would result in an increase in
overlooking and a perception of being overlooked; I disagree.
34. The site is already used for parking by the occupants of 13 Marine Terrace, and during
my site visit I noted that it had paraphernalia associated with its domestic use such as a
shed, an outdoor fire area, seating area, trampoline, raised horticultural bed, and
children’s outdoor toys. As accepted by the Council, there is already a degree of
overlooking from the site due to its current residential use. Within a built up environment
such as that found around the appeal site, there is inevitably a degree of overlooking and
mutual impact on privacy, and due to the current use of the site I do not consider the
proposed use would materially or significantly alter that situation, particularly so due to the
mitigating effects of existing screening in the form of natural features on the site along
with any new planting to augment or reinforce existing screening.
35. In addition, existing structures and landscaping located to the rear of those properties
along Marine Terrace, also currently restrict some views from the site into those
properties, thereby safeguarding privacy and overlooking.
36. Pulling the threads of the above together, for the reasons given previously the proposed
development would not be detrimental to the residential amenities of neighbouring
properties by way of impact on privacy/overlooking, or the perception of such effects, and
as a result would not be contrary to policy DM06 of the LDP which seeks, inter alia, to
safeguard residential amenity.
Highway Safety
37. The Council’s third refusal reason relates to highway safety which was also raised by a
third party. The Council argue that the site is not served by a safe and suitable highway
access given the constraints of Lewis Terrace in terms of its restricted width, lack of
pedestrian refuge, lack of dedicated turning head and restrictions caused by on-street
parking. The Council’s view is echoed by some neighbours.
38. Undoubtably the highway network serving the appeal site has a number of constraints
such as its alignment and restricted width, nonetheless, as evidenced by the appellant’s
submitted Transport Assessment (TA) the anticipated level of traffic that would be
generated by the proposal would be insignificant given there would be a maximum of 6
two-way trips on a weekday with only one vehicular movement during the typical
morning/afternoon peak hours.
39. As detailed in the TA, there have been just two accidents within the last five years on the
local highway network surrounding the site; this data indicates there is no significant
highway safety issue along Lewis Terrace or for that matter the vast majority of roads in
the locality. My site observations indicated that Lewis Terrace was lightly trafficked, as
reflected in the TA, and to my mind bearing in mind the local safety record, it appears that
pedestrians and vehicles along the route are safely interacting. I agree with the findings

Page
6 40

Appeal Ref: CAS-01494-S9H7F0

of the TA that the limited increase in traffic likely to be generated by the proposed
development is highly unlikely to exacerbate the existing safety record to warrant concern.
40. Clearly the street network serving the site does not meet modern highway design
standards, however, due to their very nature they are likely to promote low vehicle speeds
as there is expected to be an awareness amongst all road users of the shared nature of
the space, which overall is likely to foster a greater awareness of highway safety issues.
41. In addition, and separate to all the above, the TA notes that the proposed development
will result in current parking for 13 Marine Terrace to be relocated to the front of the
property. The Council argue that parking for 13 Marine Terrace can already take place to
the front of the property over which there is no control and as a result this justification is
not considered to be a valid reason to off-set the traffic generated by the proposed
development.
42. The proposal will result in parking for 13 Marine Terrace being displaced and that parking
provision being most likely displaced to the front of the property where on street parking
exists. During my site visit I noted that both Lewis Terrace and Marine Terrace where onstreet parking is the norm had spare capacity, and whilst I appreciate this was only a
snapshot on a given day and time, nonetheless it indicated such parking was available.
However, in any event I consider any additional on-street parking resultant from the
proposed development would be minimal and have little impact in terms of highway safety
in the general locality.
43. Bearing in mind all the above, and the fact that other factors such as Lewis Terrace being

a no through route serving a limited number of dwellings, and the fact that vehicles using
the site would be able to exit it in a forward gear, I am satisfied, the proposed
development would not be likely to pose detriment to highway safety. The proposed
development would not therefore be contrary to policy DM06 of the LDP which seeks,
inter alia, to safeguard highway safety.

Land Stability
44. The Council’s fourth reason for refusal related to land stability, however in their statement
of case they now consider that the matter can be addressed through the imposition of a
pre-commencement condition should the appeal be allowed; a suggested condition has
been detailed by the Council in their appeal documents. The Council have effectively
withdrawn the reason for refusal. I note the issue of land stability has also been raised by
a third party. I agree with the Council that issues relating to land stability could be
adequately addressed via a suitably worded condition in the event the appeal is allowed.
Other Material Considerations
45. I note that the proposal would provide for an additional dwelling in New Quay, incorporate
measures to enhance its sustainability such as the sedum/grass roof and it would also
utilise brownfield land, result in the site being tidied up, and would be within walking
distance of amenities/services. However, none of these benefits either individually or
combined, nor any others such as a financial contribution related to affordable housing
would outweigh the harm identified to heritage assets and the conflict with the Act, the
development plan, and national planning policy/guidance which seek to safeguard such
assets.

Page
7 41

Appeal Ref: CAS-01494-S9H7F0

Other Matters
46. I note the appellant’s concerns relating to the Council’s handling of the planning
application with regard to heritage matters, however that does not alter my assessment of
the planning merits associated with the proposal.
47. In support of his stance, the appellant drew my attention to other development in the
locality that had been permitted by the Council, however, I am not party to the full details
that informed those decisions. In any event, each application must be considered on its
own merits, and I have determined this appeal on the basis of the evidence presented.
48. The appellant in their appeal statement under the heading “scale” refers to the fact that
Natural Resources Wales did not object to the proposal in terms of its siting in relation to
the Cardigan Bay Special Area of Conservation (SAC), however, NRW’s response is only
in relation to the SAC’s designation as it relates to ecological features; such features are
not in dispute.
Overall Balancing and Conclusions
49. Whilst I have found in favour of the appellant in three of the four reasons for refusal,
nonetheless I have found that the proposed development would not provide a suitable site
for housing having regard to the detrimental impact on heritage assets and the character
and appearance of the area. Any matters in favour of the proposal would not overcome or
outweigh the significant detriment previously identified. Therefore, after taking account of
all the evidence before me, and for the reasons given above, I conclude that the appeal
should be dismissed.
50. In reaching my decision, I have taken account of the requirements of sections 3 and 5 of
the Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. I consider that this decision is in
accordance with the Act’s sustainable development principle through its contribution
towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives as required by section
8 of the Act.

Declan K Beggan
Inspector

Page
8 42

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl

Appeal Decision

Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 17/05/2022

Site visit made on 17/05/2022

gan A L McCooey BA (Hons) MSc

by A L McCooey BA (Hons) MSc

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion
Cymru

an Inspector appointed by the Welsh
Ministers

Dyddiad: 19/07/2022

Date: 19/07/2022

Appeal Ref: CAS-01594-H8FON5
Site address: Derry Ormond Railway Halt, Betws Bledrws, Lampeter, SA48 8NP
The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me
as the appointed Inspector.
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a failure to give notice within the prescribed period of a decision on an
application for planning permission.
The appeal is made by Ms Sonia Gibbon against the decision of Cyngor Sir
Ceredigion County Council.
The development proposed is the change of use from a former railway halt to a
holiday let unit.

Decision
The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the change of use from a
former railway halt to a holiday let unit at Derry Ormond Halt, Betws Bledrws, Lampeter,
SA48 8NP, in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref A200540, dated 6 July
2020, subject to the conditions set out in the schedule to this decision letter.
Procedural Matter
The application was submitted in July 2020 and reported to the relevant committee in
January 2021 with a recommendation for refusal. The committee members resolved to
support the application. However, before the decision could be issued Natural Resources
Wales (NRW) informed the Local Planning Authority that the Afon Teifi Special Area of
Conservation (SAC) was failing due to high levels of phosphates. The Council were
informed that a Habitat Regulations Assessment would be required. Discussions in the
light of NRW guidance were ongoing when the appellant decided to appeal against nondetermination. Notwithstanding the resolution of the Development Control Committee to
support the application subject to a satisfactory resolution of ecological matters, the
officers have presented the Council’s case that the proposal is unacceptable for 4
reasons.

Page 43

Appeal Ref: CAS-01594-H8F0N5

Main Issues
The main issues in this case are:
•

Whether the proposal would be acceptable in a countryside location under Policy
LU14 in terms of its physical condition;

•

The impact of the proposal on highway safety;

•

The effect of the proposed drainage arrangements on the Afon Teifi Special Area of
Conservation (SAC)

Reasons
The application relates to the Derry Ormond rail halt (small station) near Betws Bledrws.
The halt was used in conjunction with the former Aberystwyth to Carmarthen railway line,
which closed in the 1960s. The halt is on a raised platform with the former rail line in
front. The building is accessed from the A485 via a lane that serves several farms. The
proposal involves the conversion of the existing building to a one-bedroom self-catering
holiday unit. A parking area is proposed near the lane.
Settlements identified in the Ceredigion Local Development Plan (LDP) are classified as
Urban or Rural Service Centres and Linked Settlements. Betws Bledrws is a Linked
Settlement. Policy LU16 (3) deals with Tourism Accommodation in locations outside
Urban or Rural Service Centres and Linked Settlements. The policy encourages and
supports the conversion of existing buildings to other types of tourist accommodation
provided that the buildings are structurally sound and will not require major external
alterations. I note that the LDP encourages the development of sustainable tourism and
the provision of further tourism facilities, whilst ensuring that accommodation is
appropriately located. The supporting text of Policy LU14 (which deals with development
involving caravans, camping, chalets and cabins) states that accommodation inland is
generally deficient and needs strengthening in most sectors.
Policy LU16
The critical issue that has been raised is whether the building is structurally sound. The
Council’s Building Control Service has concluded that the timber frame forming the
majority of the building is beyond repair, with the roof and floor equally as derelict.
Several supporters refer to the heritage value of the building. It is the last remaining
station on this former rail line. One supporter has been responsible for restoring and rebuilding of several railway structures of the Gwili Railway Carmarthen. He has considered
the condition of the building and concludes that there is much that remains intact. He
argues that the wooden frame can be repaired, the walls are intact, and the existing slates
are present to be re-used in repairing. The Council minutes of the Development Control
Committee meeting note that the application should be approved. The reasons refer to
the importance of maintaining the heritage and historical value of the building, the
contribution the proposal would make to the local economy and the fact that the building
would be salvaged and re-used.
I agree that this simple building is an important undesignated heritage asset. The
proposal will secure its future by bringing it back into use. The evidence as to its
structural condition is contradictory. It is clear from the plans that the existing materials
can be largely preserved and re-used as part of the restoration and conversion works.
The design and appearance of the building will be retained. The proposal would support
the local tourism industry in an area where it is in need of strengthening. In all these
circumstances, I conclude that the proposal would comply with Policy LU16.

Page
2 44

Appeal Ref: CAS-01594-H8F0N5

Highway safety
The Highway Authority did not originally object to the proposal as it was considered to be
the conversion of an existing building. Whilst the proposed use remains the same, a
revised view was provided following the comments of the Building Control Service on the
condition of the building. The highway safety concerns are not set out in any detail in the
revised response of the Highway Authority. The appeal statement refers to deficiencies of
the site access with the highway and lack of passing places along the highway. The
existing lane is narrow and only serves a small number of properties. As a result, the
volume of traffic and its speed are low. There is good visibility to the right emerging and
appropriate siting would ensure that visibility to the left can be maximised. I consider that
adequate visibility can be provided. Whilst there are few passing places on the lane, no
evidence was provided this has led to any highway safety issues. The proposal for a 1bedroom holiday let would add only modest levels of traffic on the highway. Taking these
circumstances into account, I consider that refusal on highway safety grounds would not
be justified.
Effect on the condition of the Afon Teifi SAC
NRW has advised the Local Planning Authority that the site falls within the catchment of
the Afon Teifi SAC and this is a Phosphorous sensitive river. The Local Planning
Authority undertook an Appropriate Assessment under the Habitat Regulations. NRW has
confirmed on several occasions that provided the specified drainage arrangements and
drainage ditch are provided then NRW does not anticipate that the proposal would
adversely affect the integrity of the SAC. I have undertaken an Appropriate Assessment
under the Habitat Regulations (see Appendix) and reached a similar conclusion. The site
is not within a sewered area and therefore the use of a package treatment plant is
acceptable under Circular 008/2018. There is no case to withhold planning permission on
this basis.
Other Matters
A concern was raised by Traws Link Cymru regarding an adverse impact on the possible
re-opening of the former rail line. The Cpuncil considered that the proposal was not fully
in accord with Policy DM04 refers to the reuse of former rail lines for sustainable travel.
The building is on the former platform away from the line. The parking area would not
impede any possible reuse in the event that the land was acquired for such purposes. For
these reasons, I do not consider that the proposal would conflict with Policy DM04.
The appellant refers to inconsistency on the part of the Local Planning Authority because
an application for 2 cabins was approved in 2019. A different policy context applies for
the consideration of applications for cabins (Policy LU14) and so the circumstances of the
cited case are not comparable to the appeal proposal.
Conditions
I have considered the conditions suggested by the Local Planning Authority. Condition 4
is not necessary as the application is for a change of use and condition 2 requires the
development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. Conditions 5, 6
and 7 can be replaced by a single condition requiring the submission of details of the
access and parking arrangements for the approval of the Local Planning Authority.
Condition 8 is necessary to ensure that the use as holiday unit is controlled. The
Recommendations of the Bat Survey Report (see condition 2) require the provision of bat
and bird nest boxes on the site. These enhancements are necessary and would meet the
requirements of Future Wales Policy 9, which seek to enhance biodiversity.

Page
3 45

Appeal Ref: CAS-01594-H8F0N5

I have added a condition requiring details of the package treatment plant and a
maintenance plan. The condition also requires implementation of these measures as part
of the development. This condition is necessary for the reasons indicated in the AA.
Conclusion
I have found that the suggested reasons for refusal have not been sustained for the
reasons given. I conclude that the proposal would comply with Policy LU16 and therefore
the requirements of strategic Policy SO4. As noted above, the proposal would also
comply with Policy DM03 and DM04. The proposal would not adversely affect the
integrity of the SAC. Having taken all relevant information into account, I conclude that
the appeal should be allowed.
In reaching my decision, I have taken into account the requirements of sections 3 and 5 of
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. I consider that this decision is in
accordance with the Act’s sustainable development principle through its contribution
towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives.

A L McCooey
Inspector

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS
1) The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans
and documents: 1610-01 Rev D, Enhanced Foul Drainage Soakaway Trench (Colin
Brown Environmental Ltd, cbe/SD/007/10.15) and the Recommendations of the Bat
Survey Report by I & G Ecological Consulting dated 26/6/2020.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
approved documents, plans and drawings submitted with the application.
3) The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the recommendations
of the ‘Environment Management Plan to avoid pollution and potential harm to
biodiversity at Former Derry Ormond Halt, Betws Bledrws, Lampeter, Ceredigion SA48
8NU’ (I & G Ecological Consulting, January 2021.
Reason: To protect the water environment during construction in accordance with LDP
policies DM15 and DM22 and to protect the qualifying features of the Afon Teifi SAC in
line with national policies and legislation and LDP policy DM14
4) No development shall take place until details of the proposed package treatment plant,
and a maintenance plan have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
The building hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the approved
package treatment plant has been installed. The package treatment plant will be
maintained in accordance with the approved maintenance plan for as long as the
development hereby permitted remains in existence.

Page
4 46

Appeal Ref: CAS-01594-H8F0N5

Reason: To protect the water environment during construction in accordance with LDP
policies DM15 and DM22 and to protect the qualifying features of the Afon Teifi SAC in
line with national policies and legislation and LDP policy DM14
5) The development shall not be brought into use until details of the proposed access
and parking and turning facilities have been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be completed in accordance with the
approved details and retained as approved in perpetuity.
Reason: To ensure that appropriate access and parking arrangements are provided to
serve the development in the interest of road safety and free flow of traffic in
accordance with Policy DM03 and TAN18.
6) The development hereby granted planning permission shall be occupied as holiday
accommodation only and shall not be occupied as a person's sole or main place of
residence. An up-to-date register shall be kept at the holiday accommodation hereby
permitted and be made available for inspection by the local planning authority upon
request. The register shall contain details of the names of all of the occupiers of the
accommodation, their main home addresses and their date of arrival and departure
from the accommodation.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development remains as a holiday unit rather
than a residential unit in line with the strategic policies within the Local Development
Plan.

Page
5 47

Appeal Ref: CAS-01594-H8F0N5

Annex
Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats Regulations
1. The need for Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is set out within Article 6 of the
EC Habitats Directive 1992, which is transposed into British Law by the Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (the Regulations). The competent authority
must decide whether ‘likely significant effects’ of the project (alone or in-combination
with other plans or project), can be ruled out based on the information provided by the
parties. The competent authority may agree to the project only after ascertaining that it
will not adversely affect the integrity of the European site. The project could affect the
Afon Teifi Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and therefore an Appropriate
Assessment (AA) must be undertaken.
2. The Local Planning Authority provided a draft AA which sets out the reasons for
designation of the SAC and its qualifying features. The draft AA includes a screening
stage, which concludes that AA is required and also an in-combination assessment,
which concludes that there would be no residual significant effects to be considered in
combination with other projects
3. The appellant has provided drainage information to demonstrate that the development
would not increase phosphates entering the SAC as a result of the production of
wastewater. An enhanced soakaway trench to serve the development is proposed
that will ensure that effluent is adequately treated within the ground, preventing
phosphate from entering the SAC. Information on the proposed package treatment
plant from the supplier indicates that it is designed to require minimum emptying i.e.,
once every 10 years.
4. I note that both the Local Planning Authority and NRW consider these arrangements
would ensure that there would be no adverse effect on the integrity of the SAC.
However, the Local Planning Authority had raised the issue of possible effects on the
SAC from the disposal of the sludge associated with the package treatment plant. I
am guided by the advice of NRW which states that:
Given that sludge retains a small proportion of total phosphorus from private
wastewater systems without reduction technologies (e.g. chemical dosing),
phosphorus in effluent presents the greatest risk to the river environment from private
sewage systems. With additional consideration of the current regulatory framework in
place governing carriage, treatment, and disposal of private system sludge, in our
opinion, Planning Authorities can reasonably conclude that the disposal of sludge from
new private sewage treatment systems is unlikely to have a significant effect on a river
SAC.
When this is put into perspective for the case at Derry Ormond Holt, we remain to
advise that provided the specified package treatment plant and field drainage
(enhanced ditch) is implemented then we do not anticipate that there would be an
adverse effect on the integrity of the SAC.
5. The package treatment plant and field drainage (enhanced ditch) are shown on the
approved plans. Further details of the plant and maintenance arrangements will be
required as a condition of planning permission. I therefore conclude that it is beyond
reasonable scientific doubt that the scheme, either alone or in combination with other
projects, would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the Afon Teifi SAC.

Page
6 48

Appeal Ref: CAS-01594-H8F0N5

6. Other potential pollution effects caused by changes in water chemistry or deposits of
silt and sediment during construction can be addressed by a condition requiring the
development to be carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the
submitted Environment Management Plan, which would avoid pollution and potential
harm to biodiversity.
Conclusion
7. Subject to the above condition being imposed on the planning permission I conclude
that the project would not adversely affect the integrity of the Afon Teifi SAC.

Page
7 49

This page is intentionally left blank

Penderfyniad ar gostau

Costs Decision

Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 17/05/2022

Site visit made on 17/05/2022

gan A L McCooey BA (Hons) MSc

by A L McCooey BA (Hons) MSc

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion
Cymru

an Inspector appointed by the Welsh
Ministers

Dyddiad: 19/07/2022

Date: 19/07/2022

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: CAS-01594-H8FON5
Site address: Derry Ormond Railway Halt, Betws Bledrws, Lampeter, SA48 8NP
The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this application to
me as the appointed Inspector.
•
•
•

The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections
78, 322C and Schedule 6.
The application is made by Ms Sonia Gibbon for an award of costs against Cyngor
Sir Ceredigion County Council.
The appeal was against the failure of the Council to issue a notice of their decision
within the prescribed period on an application for planning permission for the
change of use from a former railway halt to a holiday let unit.

Decision
The application for an award of costs is refused.
Reasons
The Section 12 Annex ‘Award of Costs’ of the Development Management Manual (‘the
Annex’) advises that, irrespective of the outcome of an appeal, costs may only be
awarded against a party who has behaved unreasonably, thereby causing the party
applying for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process.
The appeal was received on 20 January 2022. The appellant argues that the Local
Planning Authority has not acted in a timely manner and caused huge delays in dealing
with the application. It is alleged that the Council failed to keep the appellant updated on
new information. This has resulted in the loss of a years’ worth of income.
Determination of the application was delayed due to notification by Natural Resources
Wales (NRW) that development could cause phosphate pollution to riverine Special Areas
of Conservation (SAC). The Local Planning Authority was therefore required to undertake
a Habitat Regulations Assessment. This was prepared in a timely manner. The Local
Planning Authority had a residual concern in relation to the periodic disposal of sludge
from a private package treatment plant and potential resulting adverse impacts on the
SAC. This matter was the subject of ongoing discussions with NRW and the appellant
when the appeal was lodged.

Page 51

Ref: CAS-01594-H8FON5

The consideration of the application by the relevant committee coincided with the NRW
announcement on riverine SACs. It was inevitable that there would be some delay.
Subsequently, advice from NRW was sought on the issue of disposal of sludge from the
proposed package treatment plant. The consultation reply from NRW on the appeal
refers to a Technical Note dated 16 August 2021 on this issue and further consideration
continuing beyond this date. NRW has only relatively recently confirmed its final position
on this issue. The Local Planning Authority was justified in delaying the determination of
the application as it was awaiting confirmation from NRW on an appropriate way forward.
Habitat Regulations Assessment is an important duty for a decision-maker and must be
based on reliable evidence. I therefore conclude that there was a substantive reason to
justify delaying the determination of the application. The appellant and Council have
referred to several meetings (including with NRW) and correspondence between the
parties on this issue. In these circumstances, I do not agree that there has been undue
delay or that the appellant was not informed of progress.
Conclusion
Having considered the costs application as submitted and all the evidence supplied, I
conclude that the costs application should be refused.

A L McCooey
Inspector

Page
2 52

Agenda Item 9

5. Apeliadau a Dderbyniwyd/Appeals Received
07-07-2022 - 03-08-2022

#

1

Cais /
Gorfoda
Cyfeirnod
eth /
yr Apel /
Linked
Apeliwr / Rhesymau dros apelio /
Appeal
Applicati Appellant
Grounds for Appeal
Reference
on /
Enforce
ment
CAS01824Z4Q0M9

A220054

Kristian
Perch

The decision of the LPA
refusing/refusing in part
to grant a certificate of
lawful use or
development

Lleoliad / Location

Land adj to Llys Helyg,
Joppa, Llanrhystud,
SY23 5EJ

Page 53
Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Dyddiad
Penderfyniad
Penderfyniad
Allanol /
Allanol / External
External
Decision
Decision
Date

43 / 43

This page is intentionally left blank

